OA 11-4-91

FILED
SID J. WHITE

JUL 26 1991

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,626

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

LEM ADAM WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND
Florida Bar No. 0239437
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
401 N. W. 2nd Avenue, Suite N921
Miami, Florida 33128
(305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner the State of Florida, was the Appellee in the District Court of Florida, Third District. The Respondent Lem Adam Washington, was the Appellant below. The parties will be referred to as they stand before this court. The symbol "A" will designate the appendix brief; the symbol "R" will designate the record on appeal and the symbol "T" will designate the transcript of proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent was charged with armed robbery, and after a charged trial he was convicted as (A-1). appropriately finding that Respondent was a habitual violent felony offender, the trial court sentenced him to an extended term of life imprisonment without eligibility for release for fifteen years (A.3). The Third District held that sentencing under section 775.084(4)(b)(i) is not mandatory and that a trial court is free to fashion a sentence in excess of the guidelines but below the level enumerated in the statute. This sentence does not have to be justified, with reasons, as a departure from the guidelines. (A-3). The Third District then remanded for resentencing because certain comments of the trial court indicated that it thought sentencing was mandatory.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

A trial court initially has the discretion to determine whether to sentence a defendant under the habitual offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statute (Supp. 1988). If the trial court decides that such a sentence is proper, regardless of whether a defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the trial court is required to impose the sentence in conformity with sections 775.084(4)(a) and 775.084(4)(b). In the context of the entire amended statute, the "shall" of (4)(a) and the "may" of (4)(b) must be given an obligatory meaning.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(a) FOR HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS AND THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(b) FOR HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDERS ARE MANDATORY THE TRIAL COURT HAS FOUND WHEN DEFENDANT TO BE EITHER A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER OR A HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER AND WHEN THE TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT IMPOSITION OF SENTENCE UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE, AND SENTENCING NOT PURSUANT TO THE GUIDELINES, IS NECESSARY FOR THE PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC.

ARGUMENT

THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED UNDER SECTION FOR HABITUAL **FELONY** 775.084(4)(a) AND THE SENTENCES ENUMERATED OFFENDERS UNDER SECTION 775.084(4)(b) FOR HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDERS ARE MANDATORY THE TRIAL COURT HAS FOUND DEFENDANT TO BE EITHER A HABITUAL FELONY HABITUAL VIOLENT FELONY OFFENDER OR Α TRIAL COURT OFFENDER AND WHEN THE IMPOSITION OF DETERMINED THAT UNDER THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTES, AND SENTENCING PURSUANT TO THE FOR THE NECESSARY GUIDELINES, IS PROTECTION OF THE PUBLIC.

This Court in Whitehead v. State, 498 So.2d 863 (Fla. 1986) and Winters v. State, 522 So.2d 816 (Fla. 1988), held that enactment of section 921.001, Florida Statutes (1985) the implicitly repealed section 775.084, Florida Statutes (1985). Accordingly, a habitual offender sentence could only be imposed there were valid reasons to depart from the sentencing guidelines and the fact that the defendant was a habitual offender was not a valid reason for departure. In State v. Brown, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988) this Court applied the foregoing holdings to section 775.084(4)(a)(1), Florida Statutes (1985). This Court held the said section, which states that the court shall sentence a habitual offender in the case of a felony of the first degree to life, was "implicity repealed by the enactment of section 921.001, Florida Statutes (1985), to the extent that the former may be construed as requiring a mandatory life penalty."

Id. at 53. (Emphasis in original.) This Court held that section 775.84(4)(a)(1) still was viable within the gambit of the guidelines. Said section could be used by the trial court as the maximum sentence authorized by law and a departure sentence could be entered anywhere about the recommended range to the maximum, as long as valid reasons were given. Once again it was disclared that habitual offender status itself was not a valid reason.

In response to and to overrule the foregoing decisions, the legislature amended the habitual offender statute, section 775.084, Florida Statute (Supp. 1988). The relevant portion of the amended statute section 775.084(4) states:

- (4)(a) The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), shall sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:
- 1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life.
- 2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30.
- 3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10.
- (b). The court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), may sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:
- 1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years.
- 2. In the case of a felony of the second degree, for a term of years not exceeding 30, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 10 years.

- 3. In the case of a felony of the third degree, for a term of years not exceeding 10, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 5 years.
- (c) If the court decides that imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this section. At any time when it appears to the court that the defendant is a habitual felony offender or a habitual violent felony offender, the court shall make that determination as provided in subsection (3).
- (d) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be increased after such impositon.
- (e) A sentence imposed under this section shall not be subject to the provisions of s.921.001. The provisions of chapter 947 shall not be applied to such person. A defendant sentenced under this section shall not be eligible for gain-time granted by the Department of Corrections except that the department may grant up to 20 days of incentive gain-time each month as provided for in s.944.275(4)(b).

The statute continues the practice, pursuant to (4)(1)that upon proper notice and sufficient proof, the trial court must determine that the defendant is a habitual offender. is a non-discretionary determination and only after it is made does the actual sentencing aspects of the statute become Upon finding a defendant to be a habitual offender, section (4)(1)requires the trial court to exercise its discretion by determining if a habitual sentence will be imposed. The trial court after finding that the protection of the public

would not be served by a habitual offender sentence, can sentence without regard to this section. This finding then allows the trial court, in the exercise of its discretion, to sentence the defendant under the sentencing guidelines and to depart from the guidelines, either upward or downward, as long as a valid reasons are given. Upon exercising its discretion and finding that the protection of the public would be served by a habitual offender sentence, the trial court, pursuant to (4)(e) is not longer bound by the sentencing guidelines. The trial court is then bound by the mandatory sentence contained in sections (4)(a) and (4)(b).

The foregoing interpretation was first recognized and accepted in <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1 DCA 1990), review denied, 576 So.2d 291 (Fla. 1991). In <u>Donald</u>, the court found that the "shall" of section (4)(a) and the "may" of section (4)(b) were both obligatory. These findings were based on the proper statutory construction by examining the context which the words were used and the legislative intent. <u>See S.R. v. State</u>, 346 So.2d 1018 (Fla. 1977). The court found both "shall" and "may" to be obligatory and held that "[o]nce the court decides, however, to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender or habitual violent felony offender, then the court is required to impose a sentence in conformity with sections 775.084(4)(a) or 775.084(4)(b), <u>Id</u>. at 795. The Second District has also accepted this interpretation <u>State v. Allen</u>, 573 So.2d 170 (Fla. 1 DCA 1991).

This is the most reasonable interpretation of the amended statute. The trial court, simply by finding that the protection of the public does not warrant a habitual offender sentence, may fashion any sentence it wishes, as long as said sentence does not violate the sentencing guidelines. Such sentences may include sentences below the guidelines; sentences within the recommended range; sentences within the permitted range; guideline sentences with periods of probations as long as the total sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum; and sentence above the guidelines as long as they are supported by valid reasons. The trial court, by finding that the protection of the public warrants a habitual offender statute, then submits to the will of the legislature and must impose without deviation, the sentences listed in (4)(a) and (4)(b).

The Third District, in the instant case, disagreed with the foregoing legal analysis. Without giving any thought to the fact that the amended statute can operate outside of the guidelines, the Third District relied this on Court's preamendment decision of State v. Brown, supra for sole support that the sentences in (4)(a) and (4)(b) are not mandatory. court acknowledged conflict with State v. Donald, supra, and also noted that Donald did not cite to Brown. Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3 DCA 1991).

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3 DCA June 11, 1991), the Third District finally gave analytical support to its holding in <u>Smith</u>.

The State argues that the 1988 and 1989 to the habitual offender amendments statute undercut Brown on the point at issue here. See ch. 89-280, §1, Laws of Fla.; ch. 88-131 §6, Laws of Fla. Brown was announced after disagree. adjournment of the 1988 legislature. See 1988 Laws of Fla., at i. While the 1988 made several substantive legislation changes in the habitual offender statute, legislation did not address provision of sentence" habitual offender statute. In 1989, announced, the after Brownhad been legislature amended another part of the habitual offender statute but reenacted "shall 775.084(4)(a)-theparagraph provision-without sentence" change. Under ordinary principles of statutory construction, that is at least indication that the legislature approved of the Brown court's construction of the unchanged part of the statute. See Davies v. Bossert, 449 So.2d 418, 420 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

While we are bound by Brown the Brown interpretation is also the most logical It results in harmonious reading of provisions of sentencing the (4)(a) (habitual felony paragraphs offender) and (4)(b) (habitual violent felony offender). It is illogical to assume that the legislature intended to sentencing discretion confer subparagraphs 775.084(4)(a)(2) and ("a term of years not exceeding 30" and "a term of years not exceeding 10") and throughout paragraph 775.084(4)(b) ("may violent felony sentence the habitual offender as follows") (emphasis added), while eliminating sentencing discretion solely for habitual felony offenders convicted of first degree felonies. There is no reasonable or discernible basis for

such a distinction. See S.R. v. State, 346 So.2d 1018, 1019 (Fla. 1977) (interpretation of the word "shall" as a mandatory or discretionary "depends upon the context in which it is found and upon the intent of the legislature as expressed in the statute.").

The interpretation advanced by the State would lead to one other anomaly which should be mentioned. A trialcourt can opt out of the habitual offender "[i]f the court decides statute imposition of sentence under this section is not necessary for the protection of the public §775.084(4)(c) (emphasis There will undoubtedly be cases added. in which the trial court concludes that an extended sentence is necessary for protection of the public-but not a life Under the interpretation sentence. advanced by the State, in such circumstance the sentencing judge would not only be able to impose a guidelines Wе do not think legislature intended to create an all or nothing, life or guidelines choice in the situation.

Id. at 1545 (Footnote omitted).

Upon close scrutiny, the State submits that the Third District's interpretation is not the most logical one and therefore should be rejected by this Court. The Third District erroneously rejected the State's contention that the 1988 and 1989 amendment overruled Brown. It did so simply because the amendments did not address the "shall sentences" of (4)(a). However, this analysis completely misses the point since Brown held that sentences under (4)(a) were not mandatory since the section was implicitly repealed by the sentencing guidelines and

therefore such a sentence could only be imposed under a valid departure from the guidelines. With the 1988 Amendments, habitual offender sentences were no longer controlled by the guidelines and therefore the mandatory sentences of (4)(a) and the new section of (4)(b) could be imposed regardless of the guidelines. Therefore, the fact that the Amendments did not deal with the "shall" sentence is irrelevant to the analysis of the problem.

The Third District rejection of "shall" in (4)(a) as obligatory because it would create an anamolous situation because the "may" in (4)(b) would be permissive, once again lacks a solid foundation. This supposed anamoly disappears quickly once the proper statutory construction for "may" is applied. As stated hereinbefore, "may" is obligatory when viewed in the entire context of the statute and the legislative intent of the amended statute. Therefore when both "shall" of (4)(a) and "may" of (4)(b) are interpreted as obligatory, both sections of the statute are consistent with each other and with the legislative intent of the amendments.

Finally, the Third District rejected the mandatory requirement of (4)(a), by finding that the legislature did not intend to give trial judges varying degrees of discretion under the statute. This position lacks clarity of thought since the legislature clearly meant to give trial judges the discretion to

fashion nonhabitual offender sentences even when the defendant was determined to be a habitual offender. The legislature also sought to divest trial judges of sentencing discretion only after a determination that a habitual offender sentence was to be imposed.

The State submits that to accept the Third District's interpretation of section 775.084, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988) established principles would violate well of statutory construction. First, the Legislatue is presumed to be cognizant of judicial construction of a statute when contemplating making changes in the statute. State ex rel. Quigley v. Quigley, 463 Second, it is presumed that when the So.2d 224 (Fla. 1985). legislature amends a statute, it intends to accord the statute a meaning different from that accorded it before the amendment Seddon v. Harpster, 403 So.2d 409 (Fla. 1981). Applying these principles hereto, it is clear that the legislature amended section 775.084 in order to change the interpretation this Court amendment. the statute prior to the Any interpretation of the statute would frustrate the legislative intent and would only require further legislation to once again clarify that it means to gave habitual offenders mandatory sentences when it is necessary for the protection of the public.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authorities the State respectfully requests that this Court disapprove of and quash the instant decision.