0A 11-4-9)

Q17 \mathbf{F} SID J. WHITE SEP 10 1991 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 77,626

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

LEM ADAM WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ON APPLICATION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Ronald S. Lowy, Esquire Florida Bar No. 501069 LAW OFFICES OF RONALD S. LOWY Attorneys for Respondent Barnett Bank Building 420 Lincoln Road, PH/7th Floor Miami Beach, FL 33139 (305) 673-5699

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

The State's change of heart as to the mandatory versus permissive nature of the sentencing provision of the habitual violent offender act goes unexplained in its brief before this court as any attempt at explanation would constitute an admission that even the Petitioner itself had reasonably interpreted Section 775.084(4)(b)(1) to be permissive and discretionary.

¹ This concession was made despite the fact that the opinion in Donald v. State, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), which the State relies on for its argument, was already rendered and final prior to the filing of the State's answer brief with the Third District Court of Appeal in the present cause on August 20, 1990.

B) The Legislature clearly intended sentencing under the habitual offender statute to be within the trial judge's discretion by including language in the Statute which allows trial judges to decide whether a habitual offender sentence is necessary for the protection of the public.

A trial court initially has the discretion to determine whether to sentence a defendant under the habitual felony offender provisions of 775.084 Fla. Stat. Section 775.084(4)(c) states:

> If the Court decides that imposition of sentence under this Section is not necessary for the protection of the public, sentence shall be imposed without regard to this Section.

The trial court can opt out of the habitual offender statute "if the court decides that imposition of sentence under this Section is not necessary for the protection of the public." 775.084(4)(c) Fla. Stat. Had the Legislature not intended such discretion, the Legislature would not have included such a broad and nebulous standard or test for the Judge to apply.

When the court has determined that a defendant should be sentenced as an habitual offender, the court, no longer bound by the sentencing guidelines, is directed to apply the penalty guidelines set forth in 775.084(4)(a) for habitual felony offenders and in 775.084(4)(b) for habitual violent felony offenders. The relevant portions of Section 775.084 state:

4(a) The Court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), <u>shall</u> sentence the habitual felony offender as follows:
1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life. (Emphasis supplied).

4(b) The Court, in conformity with the procedure established in subsection (3), <u>may</u> sentence the habitual violent felony offender as follows:
1. In the case of a felony of the first degree, for life, and such offender shall not be eligible for release for 15 years. (Emphasis supplied).

That the two provisions, 4(a) and 4(b), differ in form with regard to the use of the words "shall" and "may" has been the subject of controversy centering around the permissive versus mandatory nature of these sentencing provisions. This Court addressed the issue squarely in <u>State v. Brown</u>, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988). This Court in <u>Brown</u> examined the legislative intent behind 4(a) and found that the Legislature never intended this Section, although it used the word "shall", to be mandatory. This Court concluded, after examining the legislative history of the statute:

> "We are further persuaded that the Legislature never intended Section 775.084(4)(a)1 to be mandatory. The word "shall" as used in Section 775.084(4)(a)1, first appeared in the 1975 addition of Florida Statutes and has remained in all subsequent editions. After researching relevant session laws from the Laws of Florida (1975), we conclude that the Legislature itself never inserted the word in the Statute. "Shall" either was an editorial error or а misapprehension of actual legislative intent by the editors. Both Chapter 75-116 and 75-298, Laws of Florida, the only two laws amending Section 775.084 during the 1975 Session, clearly used the This expresses an unequivocal world "may". legislative intent that the life sentence should be permissive, not mandatory,"

<u>Id</u>. at 53.

The Court further held that the legislative intent clearly was only to make the life sentence a permissive maximum penalty. <u>Id.</u> at 53. Although <u>Brown</u> was decided before the habitual offender statute was made independent from the sentencing guidelines, nothing in that or any other subsequent legislation repudiates the legislative intent as such was examined and construed by the Court in <u>Brown</u>.

In <u>Henry v. State</u>, 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3d DCA, June 11, 1991) the Third District Court of Appeal carefully articulated its reasoning for holding that the habitual offender sentencing provisions are discretionary and not mandatory. The <u>Henry</u> Court follows this Court's decision in <u>Brown</u> and its legislative history reasoning. While the State argued in <u>Henry</u> that the 1988 and 1989 amendments to the habitual offender statute undercut Brown on the issue of the permissive nature of the statute, the Third District Court of Appeal disagreed. The Henry Court noted that Brown was announced after adjournment of the 1988 Legislature and further observed that while the 1988 legislation made several substantive changes in the habitual offender statute, the new legislation did not address or modify the "shall sentence" provision of the habitual offender statute. In 1989, after Brown had been announced, the Legislature amended another Section of the habitual offender statute but reenacted Section 775.084(4)(a) - the "shall sentence" provision - without change. Under ordinary principles of statutory construction, this is an indication that the Legislature approved of the Brown court's construction of the unchanged part of the statute. Henry at D1545. See Davies v. Bossert, 449 So.2d 418 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

Petitioner's argument that the Third District's analysis of Brown and the habitual offender statute amendments as set forth in Henry "completely misses the point" (Petitioner's Brief p. 10) is misplaced. The failure of the Legislature in either 1988 or 1989 to amend 4(b) to replace "may" with "shall" to express a clear rejection of Brown and the unequivocal mandatory nature of the statute, if so intended, is noteworthy. In Barnes v. State, 16 FLW D562 (Fla. 1st DCA, February 22, 1991), the First District, in reviewing the "sequential conviction requirement" of the habitual offender statute, stated that "had the Legislature intended to overturn long-standing precedent and the construction that the courts had placed on the statute, then it was obliged to use unmistakable language to achieve its objective." Barnes at D563. The court further stated that "absent clear and unambiguous language evidencing legislative intent to change or abrogate those long-standing legal principles governing the application of the habitual offender statute, the courts should refrain from reinterpreting and repudiating those long-standing principles Barnes at D565.

In view of the precedent established by <u>State v. Brown</u>, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), clearly establishing that Section 775.084(4)(a)(1) is permissive rather than mandatory, and in the absence of any legislative action which clearly and unambiguously amends that provision of the statute or overturns the construction the courts have placed on that statute, 4(a) must be deemed to be permissive in nature. Since 4(a) must be read so that "shall"

means "may", it follows that 4(b) must be read so that "may" means "may". To accept Petitioner's argument here would require that this court overturn the interpretation that has already been judicially given to Section 4(a), ascribe a legislative intent which has not been done clearly and unambiguously by the Legislature itself, and rewrite the provision of Section 4(b) so that "may" will read "shall".

<u>C)</u> Ascribing a permissive interpretation to the habitual offender statute results in a harmonious construction of the Statute and allows extended sentences where a life sentence is unwarranted.

The interpretation of the habitual offender statute as permissive is not only correct as a matter of proper statutory construction but, contrary to Petitioner's assertions, is the most logical interpretation. The Third District in <u>Henry v. State</u> 16 FLW D1545 (Fla. 3d DCA, June 11, 1991), describes the harmonious reading of the provisions of 4(a) and 4(b) with the permissive interpretation and suggests that there is no reasonable or discernible basis for eliminating sentencing discretion solely for habitual violent felony offenders convicted of first degree felonies. Id. There is also no basis to suggest that the State's desire to enhance penalties outside of the sentencing guidelines, where an extended sentence is necessary for protection of the public, is inconsistent with a trial judge's long-standing wide latitude in sentencing matters. It is logical to believe, as the Third District did in <u>Henry</u>, that the Legislature empowered judges to enhance sentences for habitual offenders without stripping them of all discretion and subjecting them to a painful all or nothing,

life or quidelines, choice in a situation where an extended sentence is appropriate yet a life sentence is unwarranted. This scenario has already occurred in State v. Eason, 16 FLW D2221 (Fla. 3d DCA, August 30, 1991) in which the trial court declared the Defendant а violent habitual offender pursuant to Section 775.084(4)(b) and sentenced the Defendant to twenty-five years in prison as opposed to a life sentence. The District Court upheld this sentence on appeal. Had the trial judge been forced to choose between a sentencing guidelines sentence or a life sentence, which he clearly rejected as too harsh, it is likely that the Defendant would have received the guidelines sentence despite the Legislative intent to punish repeat offenders more severely than authorized under the guidelines.

D) The decision of the First District in Donald v. State, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990) is contrary to this Court's reasoning and holding in Brown v. State, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), fails to make specific reference to or application of the legislative history and is based on an inapplicable rule of statutory construction.

Petitioner relies on <u>Donald v. State</u>, 562 So.2d 792 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), where the First District held that "may" in Section 775.084 must be construed as "shall". The court in <u>Donald</u> fails to follow or even acknowledge this Court's decision in <u>State v. Brown</u>, 530 So.2d 51 (Fla. 1988), which, in the view of the Respondent and of the Third District (see <u>Henry</u>), is in conflict. Respondent respectfully requests this Court to closely examine the analysis of the legislative intent which was the basis of this Court's decision in <u>Brown</u>. In <u>Brown</u>, this Court scrutinized the words of the habitual offender statute, the various editions of the Florida

Statutes containing Section 775.084(4)(a)(1), the session laws from 1975, and the laws amending Section 775.084 during the 1975 Section. After a thorough study of the history of Section 775.084 and after determining that no prior or subsequent legislation contained in the Laws of Florida has purported to change the word "may" to "shall", this Court held Section 775.084(4)(a)(1) to be Brown v. State, at 53. In contrast, the court in permissive. Donald, although basing its holding on "legislative intent", made no study of or reference to the legislative history of the habitual offender statute. Rather, the Donald court relied on principles of statutory interpretation for statutes wholly unrelated to the criminal statutes or habitual offender statute. See Allied Fidelity Insurance Co., v. State, 415 So.2d 109 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982), and Seaboard Airline Railway Co., v. Wells, 130 So. 587 (Fla. 1930). Allied Fidelity, and the other cases relied on by the Donald court, are all civil cases which involved property or monetary interests which were protected in one part of a statute by mandatory directions (by use of the word "shall"), but were left unprotected by another Section which used permissive language (by use of the word "may"). These cases held that "may" could mean "shall" if a statute directs the doing of a thing or act for the sake of justice. The use of this civil doctrine/standard in Donald was incorrect as the proper and appropriate standard for review of criminal statutes is the strict construction standard.

E) Florida's statutory rules of construction require that criminal statutes be strictly construed and if any reasonable doubt exists as to its meaning, it should be construed in favor of the accused.

It is well established that in construing a criminal statute, the intention of the legislature is the guiding consideration. The construction must give effect to every portion of the Statute. <u>Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. State</u>, 73 Fla. 609, 74 So. 595 (1917). The general rule is that criminal statutes shall be strictly construed, <u>State ex rel Lee v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1966) and if any reasonable doubt exists as to the meaning of a Statute, it should be construed in favor of the accused. <u>Whalen v. United States</u>, 445 U.S. 684, 100 S.Ct. 1432, 63 L.Ed.2d 715, (1980). This rule of statutory construction is so fundamental that the Legislature has enacted it in Fla. Stat. 775.021(1) applicable to the total Florida Criminal Code:

> The provisions of this Code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused.

Should this court find any ambiguity in the application of the sentence authorized by Fla. Stat. 775.084, it should be resolved in favor of the Defendant.

There is obvious doubt about whether the word "may" in Section 775.084(4)(b) meant may or shall. If there had been no doubt, then the case at bar would never have reached this Court based on conflict among the District Courts. Further, had there been no doubt, the Petitioner would not have conceded the permissive nature of the statute before the lower court. Construing "may" to mean "may" would also be consistent with another basic rule of statutory construction, that words should be given their plain meaning, absent direct legislative intent to the contrary. <u>State v. Cormier</u>, 375 So.2d 852 (Fla. 1979).

In considering the complete wording of 775.084 Fla. Stat., determining legislative intent, resolving conflicts, giving each Section of the statute a field of operation and applying the proper rules of strict construction, Respondent urges that the only appropriate and reasonable conclusion is to attribute a permissive interpretation to the sentencing statute under review.

Respondent asserts that had the First District in <u>Donald</u> examined the habitual offender statute to the same degree as was done by this Court in <u>Brown</u>, <u>Donald</u> and its progeny would have resulted in an entirely different outcome.

ARGUMENT II:

²A DEFENDANT WHO FAILS TO EXPRESSLY JOIN IN A NEIL OBJECTION IS ENTITLED TO RELIEF WHERE A CO-DEFENDANT RAISES THE NEIL OBJECTION AND IS GRANTED A NEW TRIAL BASED UPON NEIL ERROR WHERE THE TRIAL JUDGE CONDUCTED A NEIL INQUIRY BUT DECLINED TO RULE ON THE SUFFICIENCY OF THE EXPLANATION.

At trial, during the voir dire, the State exercised three preemptory challenges to exclude three blacks from the prospective jury. (T. 103, 104, 106). Counsel for the co-defendant, Robert Smith, raised the objection that the challenges had been exercised on the basis of the jurors' race and requested an inquiry based upon <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984). Respondent did not voice an objection (T. 106). The trial court, apparently agreeing that a *prima facie* showing had been made, ordered the prosecutor to explain the grounds upon which the black jurors had been stricken (T. 106). The prosecutor responded with supposedly race-neutral reasons (T. 107-108).³ The trial court specifically declined to rule upon the sufficiency of the explanation stating:

²The Respondent raises the above issue and subsequent third issue pursuant to Fla.R.App.P. 9.040(a) which grants this court, once discretionary review has been granted, such jurisdiction as may be necessary for a complete determination of the cause. This court has held that in acquiring jurisdiction of a case, the Supreme Court has authority to review entire record, opinion, judgment and contested issues in case. Kennedy v. Kennedy, 303 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1974); Florida Real Estate Commission v. Williams, 240 So.2d 304 (Fla. 1970); and Rupp v. Jackson, 238 So.2d 86 (Fla. 1970).

³The Third District Court of Appeal subsequently noted that it is highly unlikely that the proffered reasons would have survived the tests devised in Slappy to determine the neutrality question. Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) at 1196.

At this point, there are three blacks on the jury, okay? They are not entitled to a jury of all black people. There are three black people on the jury and I am going to leave it at that. I am not going to rule with regard to whether these other strikes are correct or not at this time. (T. 109).

On appeal before the Third District Court of Appeal, one issued raised by both Respondent and the co-defendant was whether the trial judge's failure to rule on the sufficiency of the explanation in response to a <u>Neil</u> injury is reversible error. As to the co-defendant, who raised the <u>Neil</u> objection that peremptory challenges had been exercised on the basis of the jurors' race, the Third District Court of Appeal held that once the Neil inquiry has been appropriately initiated it is incumbent upon the trial judge to evaluate the credibility of the explanation for the preemptory challenges and to "determine whether the proffered reasons, if they are neutral and reasonable, are indeed supported by the record." Smith v. State, 574 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), at 1196. The Third District recited the rule in State v. Slappy, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988), cert. denied, 487 U.S. 1219, 108 S.Ct. 2873, 101 L.Ed.2d 909 (1988), "that because even the exercise of a single racially-motivated prosecution strike is constitutionally forbidden, it does not matter for these purposes whether other black jurors actually serve on the defendant's jury." Smith, at 1196. The Third District held that where the trial judge found a prima facie showing of improper racially-based challenges and ordered the prosecution to explain the grounds upon which the black jurors had been stricken, the trial judge's refusal to rule on the

<u>Neil</u> objection because three blacks were on the jury was reversible error. <u>Smith</u>, at 1196.

As to the Respondent, however, the Third District refused to offer similar relief because the <u>Neil-Slappy</u> objection was raised solely by co-defendant Smith and was not also raised, joined or adopted by Respondent. <u>Smith</u>, at 1197.

Relying on <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978), the Third District held in <u>Smith</u> that Respondent's failure to assert and press the exclusion issue during the jury selection process itself precluded reversal in his favor. <u>Smith</u>, at 1197. The Third District also noted, and seemed persuaded by, the Respondent's personal statement that he was satisfied with the result of the jury selection process. <u>Id</u>.

A) The purpose of the Contemporaneous Objection Rule, Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978), is to place a trial judge on notice that an error may have been committed and provide him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceeding.

The Third District relied on the "contemporaneous objection" rule set forth in <u>Castor v. State</u>, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978), in denying Respondent relief and granting relief for the co-defendant. In <u>Castor</u>, the trial judge failed to re-instruct the jury on justifiable and excusable homicide. Trial counsel for Castor failed to object, before or after re-instruction, to the trial court's failure to follow the rule regarding the procedure for submitting to counsel all responses to a jury's questions. <u>Id</u>. at 703. The Florida Supreme Court affirmed the district court's holding that the point was not properly preserved for appeal. <u>Id</u>. at 703. The Florida Supreme Court in explaining the purposes behind the contemporaneous objection rule said:

The requirement of a contemporaneous objection is based on practical necessity and basic fairness in the operation of a judicial system. It places the trial judge on notice that error may have been committed, and provides him an opportunity to correct it at an early stage of the proceedings.

Castor, at 703.

This Court further held in <u>Castor</u> that "to meet the objectives of any contemporaneous objection rule, an objection must be sufficiently specific both to apprise the trial judge of the putative error and to preserve the issue for intelligent review on appeal." <u>Id</u>. at 703. The crucial question presented in <u>Castor</u>, then, was whether the trial judge was given notice that error may have been committed and an opportunity to correct it at an early stage. This Court found in <u>Castor</u> that the trial court was not presented with an opportunity to cure the legal, but nonfundamental error. <u>Id</u>, at 704.

Unlike <u>Castor</u>, in the case at bar the trial judge, when presented with the <u>Neil/Slappy</u> objection by the co-defendant, was given notice of the putative constitutional/legal error and had full opportunity to address and correct the error, thus fully satisfying the objectives and purpose of the contemporaneous objection rule. The Third District misplaced its reliance on the <u>Castor</u> "rule" rather than the <u>Castor</u> principles. The facts of the case at bar do not require a blind application of the <u>Castor</u> rule, but rather an analysis of whether the contemporaneous objection

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